RECEIVED

MAY 16 2017

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CALVERT MYERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001803

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court abused its discretion by allowing Investigator Carwell to give opinion testimony regarding his interpretation of what was occurring on videotape of the incident at the bar, since his opinions that the decedent and his girlfriend were only attempting to enjoy their evening, that appellant became the aggressor, while the decedent acted innocently were highly prejudicial particularly where self-defense and voluntary manslaughter were jury issues?

2.

Whether the court abused its discretion in denying a mistrial, especially when it found the investigator's highly prejudicial opinions about what was allegedly occurring on the videotape at critical times were not at all apparent, and the state made maximum use of the inadmissible unsupported opinions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 417. His case was called to trial on August 12, 2014, before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman, and a jury. Robert Mills represented appellant. Megan Walker and John Steadman were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On August 14, 2014, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 406, ll. 19-24. Judge Newman sentenced appellant to thirty-seven years' imprisonment. R. 415, ll. 13-16.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court abused its discretion by allowing Investigator Carwell to give opinion testimony regarding his interpretation of what was occurring on videotape of the incident at the bar, since his opinions that the decedent and his girlfriend were only attempting to enjoy their evening, that appellant became the aggressor, while the decedent acted innocently were highly prejudicial particularly where self-defense and voluntary manslaughter were jury issues.

Relevant facts

On December 29, 2012, Deputy Tristen Ellis was patrolling in Richland County in the Eastover-Gaston area. R. 10, l. 3 – 11, l. 4. At about 1:30 in the morning, he was dispatched to a “civil disturbance between two black males out of Toney’s Lounge on Congaree Road.” When he arrived, “I observed two black males laying on the ground, one of conscious and one was unconscious.” R. 11, ll. 8-17.

As will be seen infra, there was evidence that the decedent at one point was on top of appellant in the parking lot beating him. One witness estimated appellant was beaten for five minutes. The state attempted to persuade the jury that the decedent -- however miraculously --had **already** been fatally shot in the chest at the time he was on top of appellant beating. It was undisputed that appellant was badly beaten, and that he remained in the hospital “hooked up to machines.”

Deputy Ellis remembered that appellant was very bloody when he saw him on the ground in the parking lot. “His face was completely bloody.” The decedent was unconscious and breathing “very shallow.” He later died in the hospital. R. 15, ll. 3-23.

Deputy Robert Furgal remembered arriving at Toney's tavern that night also. He "immediately started to work the crowd back from the two individuals, the defendant and the victim, who was noticeably in the same vicinity on the ground, tried to get them back to make the scene safe so that EMS would come on the scene." Furgal said some in the crowd pointed to a handgun in the nearby area. Furgal secured the gun, and put in his trunk. R. 24, ll. 3-9.

Deputy Jeffrey Hazelbrook was asked to go back to the club on January 10, 2013, about thirteen days after the fatal shooting because some shell casings had been located in the parking lot. R. 36, l. 5 – 37, l. 7. Hazelbrook said he found three brass nine-millimeter shell casings. R.37, l. 4 – 1. 39, l. 4.

Toney Lowman was disabled by the time of the trial. He had been the owner of Toney's Bar and Restaurant for over twenty-five years. He had known appellant for thirty or forty years. They "kind of grown up together." He had known the decedent, Cornelius Green, for about twenty years. R. 42, l. 1 – 43, l. 16.

Toney remembered that appellant was in the bar that evening arguing with his great niece, Sherry. Toney said he did not know appellant's relationship to Sherry at that time. However, he did recall that appellant was cursing at her inside his bar. Toney did not know what started the argument. R. 43, l. 12 – 46, l. 6.

Toney testified that Sherry tried to hit appellant over him as he got between them inside the bar. The decedent was Sherry's boyfriend, and Toney was trying to "calm everybody down." R. 46, ll. 10-23.

Toney took appellant outside after this encounter, and he talked to him about "how easy trouble is to get into, how our family and stuff grew up together." R. 46, l. 25 – 47, l. 3. Appellant

told Toney that he was “going to let all this go.” Toney allowed appellant to go back into the bar where Sherry seemingly still was drinking. R. 47, l. 8 – 48, l. 16.

Toney confirmed “Sherry was still at the bar” when appellant re-entered the bar. Toney got appellant a drink, and appellant walked toward the back end of the bar. The decedent was sitting at the bar at the same time. Toney vaguely relayed to the jury that “Calvin started back again. Toney said he now told appellant “me and you got trouble. That’s where I told my sister ‘go and call the police for Calvin.’” R. 50, ll. 3-22.

Toney recalled appellant took his jacket off inside the bar, and that the decedent was going outside the bar at that time. Toney remembered that words were exchanged between appellant the decedent. Toney said the decedent told him: “Toney, you know I ain’t never started no trouble at your place. I said, you sure ain’t, but I got somebody on the way to take care of Calvin.” R. 52, ll. 7-16.

Toney confirmed to the solicitor his understanding of the sequence of the blows: “Sherry hit Calvin. Calvin turned around and hit Sherry in the back. That’s when Neil [the decedent] hit Calvin . . . when Neil hit Calvin, Sherry and Neil walked off.” R. 52, ll. 7-16. Toney maintained appellant was not bleeding as a result of being hit the first time by the decedent.. R. 52, l. 17 – 53, l. 21.

Toney also remembered that the decedent hit appellant while both men were outside in the parking lot. “There was three licks passed . . . *when Neil hit Calvin, Calvin hit the ground . . . I didn’t see how hard he [the decedent] hit him [appellant] but Calvin went down to the ground.* But, when Calvin - - when Neil hit Calvin, him and Sherry walked off.” R. 66, l. 10 – 67, l. 18. (emphasis added).

Toney confirmed that appellant was able to get up off the ground after the decedent knocked him down. Toney said the next thing he knew “everybody was running and scattering.” The decedent was shot during this melee. R. 66, l. 10 – 73, l. 23. Toney repeatedly confirmed that the decedent was on top of appellant hitting him in the face while this occurred. R. 72, l. 11 – 156, l.24.

Sherry Myers testified that appellant was her great uncle. R. 75, ll. 10-25. She had been dating the decedent for about two and one-half years before the incident at Toney’s Lounge. Sherry recalled: “We slept all that day and we woke up that afternoon and decided we wanted to go out and have a drink.” R. 76, ll. 4-25.

Sherry confirmed that she did not have a good relationship with appellant. Appellant was already at the bar when she arrived there with the decedent. R. 76, l. 19 – 79, l. 8. While the videotape was played, Sherry testified that the tape showed appellant walking up and calling her “a no-good bitch.” There was no audio on the videotape. The videotape is on file with this Court. R. 79, ll. 19-21.

Sherry said she told appellant to leave her alone and then Toney, the owner, began talking to appellant. Sherry claimed she told appellant she was going “to put a restraining order against him.” Sherry maintained her decedent boyfriend was trying to calm everyone down. R. 80, l. 13 – 82, l. 8.

Sherry claimed the decedent never said anything to appellant that evening. Sherry told the jurors that they were eventually outside in the parking lot, and she was face to face with appellant. “I swung and I hit him.” Sherry confirmed that the decedent also hit appellant. R. 83, ll. 14-24.

At this point, the decedent apparently realized Sherry had his car keys. Sherry speculated: “That’s when somebody must have yelled out about the gun and he [the decedent] ran behind that truck right there.” She stated that she saw appellant running also and saw a “flash.” She did not remember how many shots she heard, but she remembered the decedent saying: “Baby, that mother

fucker done shot me.” Sherry claimed the decedent fell on top of appellant at that time. R. 84, l. 5 – 85, l. 25. Sherry admitted there was a lot of chaos at the club at that time with about forty-five or fifty people together. R. 89, l. 4 – 175, l. 20.

Sherry said that the decedent was about 6’3” and appellant was only 5’9”. She remembered the decedent hit appellant, and knocked him to the ground. R. 93, ll. 5-21.

As Sherry watched the videotape on cross-examination, she admitted that she pushed appellant. Sherry claimed he got physical with appellant because he was calling her names. She admitted that Toney held appellant back. Sherry denied that she was angry at the time. She said she was “upset and talking.” R. 96, l. 8 – 104, l. 22.

Sherry claimed appellant had a history of “sneaking around” and “hitting people from behind.” Sherry again confirmed that the decedent hit appellant, and knocked him to the ground. However, Sherry maintained that appellant had hit her first. R. 96, l. 8 – 104, l. 22. Sherry acknowledged that the videotape showed the decedent “beating Mr. Myers, the defendant.” R. 105, ll. 7-10.

Interestingly, Sherry maintained “all of this [was] after he [the decedent] got shot.” The state would try to make the most of this claim that the decedent was already fatally shot when he was plummeting appellant so badly that appellant was the hospital on life supporting machines for several days afterwards. R. 104, l. 3 – 105, l. 4.

Sherry did acknowledge she told the police that she heard three shots, and she “heard Neil say ‘he shot me,’ and Neil hit Calvin in the face, but he did not have any strength and fell to the ground and laid on his back.” R. 104, l. 15 – 106, l. 2.

The pathologist

The pathologist, Dr. Amy Durso, testified that the decedent had six gunshot wounds (both entrance and exit wounds included). He was shot in the left lung from more than two feet away. R. 110, l. 13 – 127, l. 23. Dr. Durso admitted that the shot to the left lung was enough to kill the decedent by itself. R. 126, ll. 1-16.

The defense cross-examined Dr. Durso at length. R. 129, l. 1 – 139, l. 1. The state's witness, Durso, on cross-examination:

Q. The wound that you testified to that was the one who—*the one which probably caused the death of Mr. Green, in a normal situation of a gunshot wound of that nature, how long would it take for death to occur?*

A. Lot of people **kind of get a shot of adrenaline and [are] known to run a mile or two**, so the rate he was bleeding, **it could have been five minutes**, just a rough estimate, because your blood pressure is going to go down as you're bleeding.

Q. Okay. How long would you remain conscious in all likelihood?

A. I say up to five minutes.

R. 138, l. 17 – 139, l. 3. (emphasis added).

Richland County investigator Yvonne Woods visited appellant in the hospital to interview him. She remembered appellant was “hooked up to multiple machines” and “he was unable to speak.” R. 173, ll. 17-24.

James Myers was appellant's nephew. He was thirty-years-old and he worked daily with appellant on their food truck that they operated in various parts of Richland County. “Construction sites,” and similar areas were targeted for their food sales. R. 185, l. 16 - 187, l. 16.

James remembered that they worked out of the food truck all day on December 29, 2012. Then they went to a Citco station and had a “couple of beers,” and possibly some gin. They made their way to Toney's bar at about 10:00 or 11:00 that evening. This was not routine, and James

remembered appellant “said that he was going to stop through and take a drink before we go to the house.” R. 187, l. 12 – 189, l. 4.

James sat at the bar and ordered a beer. We were “just chilling out,” “hanging out and not talking to anybody” in particular. R. 188, l. 2 – 189, l. 24.

James remembered that Sherry and the decedent came into the bar. Sherry hesitated once inside when she saw her great uncle, appellant, was at the bar. James knew that appellant and Sherry did not “get along.” James testified at some point appellant was cursing at Sherry. James helped Toney, the owner take appellant outside. R. 190, l. 12 – 192, l. 6.

James was ready to go home at this point, but appellant wanted to stay. He remembered that Toney allowed appellant to go back inside after talking to him. R. 192, l. 8 – 193, l. 4. James stayed outside, and he eventually saw appellant and another man on the ground fighting. R. 192, l. 25 – 193, l. 7. James remembered: “I saw Calvin trying to get up and he was pulling a gun out.” James said the decedent ran, appellant shot at the decedent, and “shot him in the back or something.” R. 194, l. 11 – 195, l. 25.

James confirmed that both appellant and the decedent were bleeding. Sherry and others called 9-1-1. R. 196, ll. 1-15; R. 202, ll. 13-14. James estimated that the decedent actually beat appellant **for about five minutes**. R. 205, ll. 3-5; R. 209, l. 2 – 210, l. 8.

Investigator Carwell

The state called Richland County Sherriff’s Investigator John Carwell as a witness. There was no attempt to qualify Carwell as an expert in anything. R. 244, l. 22 – 253, l. 9.

Carwell remembered that when he arrived at Toney’s bar that evening that appellant and the decedent had already been transported to the hospital. Carwell acknowledged that appellant was

seriously hurt, and that appellant was not able to talk to the police in the hospital. R. 246, l. 16 – 247, l. 5; R. 251, l. 19 – 252, l. 4.

The solicitor then played the videotape from the bar on that fatal evening. Carwell claimed he could corroborate statements made to him by watching the videotape “understanding **it is a very chaotic situation**, *but both provided statements where I could go back in the video and match up everything*. There may be little inconsistencies, but the majority of both statements [Sherry and the bar owner, Toney] matched up to what the video shows.” R. 248, l. 25 – 249, l. 15.

Carwell confirmed to the solicitor that the videotape was *very significant* to him. R. 252, l. 19 – 253, l. 2. Carwell immediately testified that the videotape showed Sherry Myers and the decedent “having a fine time.” Defense counsel Mills immediately objected to Carwell’s opinion “about what’s going on. **It can speak for itself. He’s giving opinion testimony.**” The solicitor defended Carwell arguing Carwell was only testifying that the decedent was having a good time with Sherry “before Calvin Myers injects himself into their evening.” R. 253, l. 3 – 254, l. 16. The judge overruled the defense objection. R. 253, ll. 12-16.

After the judge overruled the objection, Carwell then testified that appellant was watching Sherry. He told the jury that the videotape showed appellant approaching Sherry and “obviously saying something.” Carwell said appellant re-entered the bar with Toney, the owner, and appellant was “approaching Sherry. He’s obviously saying something.” Carwell told the jury that this was significant because “*I want to find the aggressor.*” R. 256, l. 2 – 257, l. 4. (emphasis added).

Carwell said Toney tried to step in, and separate the two. Carwell maintained to the solicitor that he was able to “determine how many people tried to deescalate the situation, and how many times Mr. Myers was taken out” of the bar. Carwell maintained the videotape showed “Calvert Myers again sneaking in.” R. 255, l. 1 – 257, l. 1.

When Carwell also testified that the videotape showed Toney instructing someone to call 9-1-1, the judge sustained the defense objection. R. 257, ll. 2-11. Carwell admitted there were “blind spots at this location where the cameras don’t pick up what’s going on.” Carwell confirmed to the solicitor that he was “making a determination about the appropriate charges” when he watched the videotape.” R. 257, l. 13 – 259, l. 6. Appellant, of course, was charged with murder.

Carwell also said the videotape showed the decedent hiding behind a vehicle in the parking lot. Another defense objection was sustained. R. 259, ll. 2-10. When the solicitor continued the line of questioning about the video allegedly showing the decedent hiding and appellant going for his gun, the court again sustained another defense objection. R. 259, l. 16 – 260, l. 21. The judge sent the jury out of the courtroom at that point.

Mistrial motion

Defense counsel then argued to the judge that the solicitor was leading investigator Carwell through the videotape while Carwell commented on what he allegedly saw that was not backed up by testimony, and it was also based on hearsay. The judge stated that he had sustained some of the defense objections. Defense moved for a mistrial noting it was the jury’s province to determine what happened, and he argued what the solicitor and her witness, Carwell, claimed the videotape showed was not at all apparent. The solicitor claimed that assertion “went to the weight of the evidence.” R. 261, ll. 6-17.

The solicitor argued: “I think it’s appropriate” for the investigator to comment on what parts of the video he found significant. “I can’t help it if that prejudicial to his client. But, I think if I ask him a question about what was significant in terms of the lead investigator’s charge in this case, it is appropriate.” R. 357, l. 19 – 358, l. 1.

The judge agreed with defense counsel that it was not clear at all what was happening on the videotape at critical times, and he told the solicitor: "And as it relates to the witness's ability to say what occurred, it has to be clearly demonstrated on the video." Defense counsel told the judge he totally agree and that was why the solicitor's demonstration was so improper, and the prejudice from it was so apparent. The judge nonetheless refused to declare a mistrial. R. 261, l. 2 – 265, l. 17.

Appellant's statement

Appellant told police, after being released from the hospital that he got up at about 5:30 in the morning of December 29, 2012 and prepared to work on his food truck by grilling food. He told police about stopping at the Citgo station after work for a drink and then went to Toney's with his nephew, James Myers. Appellant told law enforcement at this point his mind "goes blank." Again, it was undisputed that appellant was badly beaten that night at Toney's bar.

The police also questioned appellant about having a nine-millimeter gun. Appellant responded that his wife "bought me a house gun." However, he did not recall how he "got the gun on me." Appellant said he did not remember shooting that evening in the parking lot, nor did he remember being assaulted or hit that evening even though he obviously was beaten. R. 277, l. 7 – 282, l. 16. Appellant also did not recall having a gun. Appellant was asked if it was possible that he shot the decedent. Appellant responded: "What reason would I have to shoot him? I have known this kid all my life. I don't just...I just don't know." R. 282, ll. 9-25.

Charge on the law

The judge charged the jury on the law of murder, voluntary manslaughter, and self-defense. R. 382, l. 19 – 387, l. 15.

Jury questions

The jury returned wanting to hear the part of the pathologist's testimony about an "adrenaline rush." Defense counsel Mills correctly remembered: "I believe that was on cross-examination." The jury also asked about seeing the videotape. The judge would instruct the jury that they would have a computer in the jury room if it chose to view the videotape again. R. 395, l. 9 – 399, l. 22. 6

The jury sent another note stating: "We would like the testimony beginning with how Neil would have the energy to beat Calvert after he was shot. We want to be 100% that the fight that made Calvert severely beaten occurred after he was shot." The solicitor noted that the jury was again referencing "that adrenaline rush, she [the pathologist] used that word." That's the part that we found. That portion of Dr. Durso's testimony was then played for the jury. R. 397, l. 23 – 399, l. 21.

The jury finally asked for an instruction on the difference between premeditated murder and murder. The solicitor asked the judge to charge the jury that murder did not have to be premeditated. The judge instead recharged the jury on the elements of murder, and the definition of malice. R. 400, l. 1 – 405, l. 20. The jury found appellant guilty of murder at 7:10 that evening. R. 405, l. 17 – 406, l. 24.

The defense moved for a new trial, arguing the evidence did not support the verdict. The judge denied that motion. R. 409, l. 15 – 411, l. 8.

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