**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001803

---

THE STATE,

v.

CALVERT MYERS,

**RECEIVED**  
RESPONDENT FEB 16 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANT.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6307

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

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

Carwell's testimony regarding the video was also helpful to the jury in determining facts or issues in the case. Almost all of Carwell's testimony regarding the security video consisted of identifying the eyewitnesses who testified at trial in the video. As noted by Appellant, there are portions of the video that are difficult to follow. Carwell's testimony in identifying eyewitnesses in the video and tracking some of the actions in the video would only assist the

jury in utilizing the security video as evidence. In light of the fact Carwell was familiar with the eyewitnesses through his investigation, his testimony regarding the identity of those witnesses in the video was properly admitted. See Fripp, 396 S.C. at 439, 721 S.E.2d at 467; see also Mitchell, 399 S.C. at 417-20, 731 S.E.2d at 893-95.

**C. Any error in admitting the testimony was harmless.**

If the trial court erred in admitting the brief snippets of Carwell's opinion into evidence, the error was harmless. There was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt presented at trial absent Carwell's statement.

Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained. Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992). Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where "guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached." State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

In Appellant's case, it must first be noted that the brief snippets of Carwell's opinion that was admitted was minimal. Second, the characterizations made by Carwell were cumulative to the testimony of eyewitnesses who testified at trial. For instance, Sherry testified that prior to the initial confrontation between Appellant and Sherry, she and the victim were sitting at the bar having a drink. (R. p. 77). She also noted that before Appellant initially approached her, she was

talking with her daughter's cousin. (R. p. 79). Furthermore, Moore indicated that everything in the bar was calm until Appellant and Sherry got into an argument. (See R. pp. 319, 324). Also, several witnesses indicated that after the victim was made aware Appellant had a gun, he was attempting to hide behind cars to avoid being shot by Appellant. Sherry noted that the video reflected the victim was hiding behind a truck after someone yelled Appellant had a gun. (R. pp. 84, 104). James also testified he saw the victim "running, like, hiding trying to dodge bullets." (R. p. 195, ll 19-20).

Third, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. "Murder' is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10. There was overwhelming evidence that Appellant was guilty of the murder of Cornelius Green. First, there was overwhelming evidence that Appellant shot and killed Green. Lowman testified that Green, the victim, knocked Appellant down after Appellant made physical contact with Sherry. (R. pp. 52, 67). Several witnesses indicated that after Green knocked Appellant down, he walked away and headed towards his vehicle. (R. pp. 52, 67, 83-84, 104, 193-94, 204, 209). Those witnesses indicated that when Appellant got off the ground, he started pulling his gun out and started to shoot at the victim. (R. pp. 54, 68, 84-85, 105, 194-95, 207, 209). When Appellant shot the victim, the victim was attempting to avoid being shot. (R. pp. 84, 104, 195, 209). Several witnesses also noted the victim seemingly identified Appellant as the one who shot him. (See R. pp. 56, 85, 209). While the initial fight between the victim and Appellant outside was not captured by the security camera, the testimony

regarding the victim's attempt to run away and avoid getting shot by Appellant is corroborated by the security camera video. (State's Exhibits 4, camera 3, 1:32:08-1:33:00).

There was also substantial evidence that the shooting was done with malice. All of the eyewitnesses indicated that prior to the brief confrontation outside, they had not seen any confrontation between Appellant and the victim that night. (See R. pp. 46, 58, 89, 197, 320). Sherry and Lowman both indicated Appellant initiated the confrontation outside by cursing and harassing Sherry, and by making physical contact with Sherry. Further, Appellant shot the victim using a pistol. Malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612, n. 9, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 n. 9 (2009). The testimony presented at by the eyewitnesses all indicated that Appellant and the victim were not actively engaged in a physical confrontation when the shots were fired. All indicated that the final confrontation that led to Appellant's injuries occurred after he shot the victim. (R. pp. 52-53, 56-57, 88, 195-96, 205). Altogether, any error by the trial court in allowing the testimony from Carwell to which Appellant objected was improper opinion testimony in Appellant's trial was harmless. This claim for relief should therefore be denied and dismissed. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

- II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL. THE ARGUMENT PRESENTED ON APPEAL IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW. THE OBJECTION TO THE QUESTION WAS PROPERLY SUSTAINED, A PROPER CURATIVE INSTRUCTION WAS GIVEN, AND A MISTRIAL WAS NOT WARRANTED.

What Occurred at Trial

As the questioning of Investigator Carwell continued, the following exchange occurred:

BY MS. WALKER:

Q. Once you saw -- use the word crouching, the Defendant crouching behind the vehicle and doing this motion, was that significant to you?

MR. MILLS: Objection, Your Honor, that has not been testified to, what she just --

THE COURT: The objection is sustained.

MR. MILLS: Thank you, Your Honor. Your Honor, I may have a motion at this time, Your Honor.

(R. p. 260, ll 15-23).

After the jury left the courtroom, Appellant further explained the basis for his objection.

Your Honor, there's been no testimony about anybody doing like this and pointing (indicating). I think the characterization by the solicitor of that is a -- is a comment that is, basically, leading the witness and, also, commenting on what could be seen on the video. There's been no testimony of that.

(R. p. 261, ll 5-10). After the trial court acknowledged that Appellant had objected and the objection was sustained, Appellant moved for a mistrial. "And I would move for a mistrial. It is prejudicial for her to be showing actions that are -- that would be up to the jury to determine whether that's occurred. There's been

no testimony to that effect at this point.” (R. p. 261, ll 12-16). In response, the State argued that it had attempted to rephrase the question after the prior objection. (R. p. 261). Further, the State contended that it was appropriate to ask the investigator about what parts of the investigation were significant to him and what assisted in his decision making process regarding how to charge Appellant. (R. pp. 261-62).

The trial court then asked the solicitor about the time mark on the video that reflected the gesture that was used during the question. (R. p. 262). During the argument about what could be seen in the video, the solicitor stated,

Your Honor, the witness was describing -- this is the Defendant. The witness was describing him walking around. He leans on the car at this point in time. And, Your Honor, it's going to cut to a different camera angle. And he's still leaning on the car. It cuts to this camera angle. And he's saying this is all significant to him because he has a situation in which he's determining what to charge and who to charge. He has the victim here, I guess, crouching behind the vehicle at this point figuring out which way the Defendant is going. And the Defendant comes up around here, goes back behind the car at this point, which he was leaning. Toney Lowman testified he saw him go out and get the gun. He goes down and does that and comes back up, Your Honor.

(R. pp. 262, l 24 – 263, l 12). During further discussion, Appellant and the solicitor disagreed regarding whether it could be seen that Appellant pulled out a gun. (R. p. 264). The trial court ultimately determined that the question was improper because the gesture demonstrated in asking the question was not clearly demonstrated by the video.

But whatever you said the Defendant did in your question, I cannot see him doing that. I don't see where he did that from my vantage point here on that video.

...

And if there's some uncertainty, it's not clearly demonstrated, then it's an improper question. Improper in the sense that you would be testifying about the witness, number one. And as relates to the witness's ability to say what occurred, it has to be clearly demonstrated on the video.

(R. p. 264, ll 14-7, 19-24). The trial court noted that the inference being made by the State could be argued to the jury during closing, but it could not be included in questioning. (R. p. 265). The trial court further noted that it sustained the objection, and it believed that was sufficient. The trial court also denied the motion for a mistrial. (R. p. 265).

When the jury returned to the courtroom, the trial court stated,

All right. Thank you. The objection is sustained. The jury is to disregard the last question. Ladies and gentlemen, questions asked by counsel -- questions are not evidence. You are not to consider any questions asked as being evidence.

(R. p. 266, ll 14-8).

#### Standard of Review

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Crim, 327 S.C. 254, 257, 489 S.E.2d 478, 479 (1997); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct.App.1999). Appellate courts have favored the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 483, 374 S.E.2d 284, 285 (1988). "It is only in cases of abuse of discretion which result in prejudice that this court will intervene and grant a new trial." State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 94, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971). "A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with

the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851; see also State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977) (“The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes.”).

“[A] mistrial should not be ordered in every case in which incompetent evidence is improperly admitted.” State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 444, 639 S.E.2d 160, 162 (Ct.App.2006) (citing State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 89, 512 S.E.2d 795, 801 (1999) and Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851). “[T]he trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (internal citation omitted).

#### Discussion

**A. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial. A proper curative instruction was given, and a mistrial was not warranted.**

The trial court did not err in denying Appellant’s request for a mistrial. First, any prejudice created by the question asked by the solicitor was resolved by the trial court’s curative instruction. It is well known “[a] curative instruction to disregard incompetent evidence and not to consider it during deliberation is deemed to have cured any alleged error in its admission.” State v. Goldsmith, 301 S.C. 463, 467, 392 S.E.2d 787, 789 (1990) (quoting State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 130 (Ct.App.2005)); see State v. Dawkins, 297

S.C. 386, 377 S.E.2d 298 (1989); State v. Craig, 267 S.C. 262, 227 S.E.2d 306 (1976); State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 119, 674 S.E.2d 532, 538-39 (Ct.App.2009). Here, the trial court strongly instructed the jury to disregard the previous question. Further, the jury was instructed that questions by the attorneys were not evidence. Under South Carolina law, jurors are presumed to follow the trial judge's instructions. State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 550 S.E.2d 889 (Ct.App.2001), affirmed as modified on writ of cert., 353 S.C. 539, 579 S.E.2d 318 (2003) quoting Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 n. 1 (1999) ("A jury is presumed to [have followed the trial judge's] instructions."). In light of the curative instructions that were given by the trial court, Respondent submits the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial.

**B. The argument raised by Appellant on appeal is not preserved for appellate review.**

Appellant's argument that the trial court should have granted the motion for a mistrial because the investigator provided improper opinion testimony was not raised to the trial court. As reflected by the transcript, trial counsel's objection that led to the motion for a mistrial was not based upon a belief that the question asked was requesting improper opinion. Instead, the basis for the objection was that the gesture made in asking the question did not reflect testimony or evidence that was in the record. Thus, the question was based on a lack of proper foundation. Since the basis for the mistrial motion below differs from the argument raised on appeal, the argument is not preserved for appellate review. See Johnson, 363 S.C. at 58, 609 S.E.2d at 523 (stating an objection should be

sufficiently specific to bring the exact error to the trial court's attention); Adams, 354 S.C. at 380, 580 S.E.2d at 795; see Perez, 334 S.C. at 565-66, 514 S.E.2d at 755 (issue not raised and ruled upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also Tucker, 319 S.C. at 428, 462 S.E.2d at 265 (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal).<sup>4</sup>

**C. The denial of the mistrial motion should be affirmed because the alleged error in the question was harmless.**

Respondent submits that the denial of the mistrial motion should be affirmed because the error in how the question was asked was ultimately harmless. Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Adams, 354 S.C. at 380-81, 580 S.E.2d at 795; see also State v. Curry, 370 S.C. 674, 636 S.E.2d 649 (Ct.App.2006) (error is harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial). An error is not reversible unless it is material and prejudicial to the substantial rights of the appellant. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 414-15, 649 S.E.2d 41. 55 (Ct.App.2007). No definite rule of law governs finding an error harmless; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Lee-Grigg, supra; see also State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 563 S.E.2d 315 (2002) (in determining whether an error is harmless, the reviewing court must review the entire record to determine what effect the error had on the verdict).

---

<sup>4</sup> Respondent would also note that Appellant may have waived the argument raised at trial in not objecting to the curative instruction given by the trial court, or specifically reserving the motion for a mistrial in light of the curative instruction. See Patterson, 337 S.C. at 226, 522 S.E.2d at 851.

As already noted in Argument I, there was overwhelming evidence that tended to prove the Appellant's guilt, which was wholly independent of the question regarding the gesture made by Appellant. As such, Respondent submits that Appellant is unable to prove prejudice, and that as a result, any error is harmless. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial. Therefore, Respondent submits that this claim should be denied, and that this Court should affirm the findings of the lower court.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny Appellant's appeal and affirm his conviction for the murder of Cornelius Green.